2010

Wendy Harris v. Shopko Stores, Inc : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Supreme Court has original jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j). Pursuant to Rule 42(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, the Supreme Court transferred this appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals, which has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Issue One. Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it declined to order a new trial on grounds of insufficient evidence to justify the jury's award of \$15,000.00 in present economic damages and \$10,000.00 in future economic damages, even though (1) the jury found Defendant 100% liable for Plaintiff's injury, (2) the undisputed evidence was that Plaintiff's past medical expenses of \$33,203.34 and future medical expenses of \$39,574.00 were both necessary and reasonable, and (3) there is no combination of figures submitted to the jury that would have added up to \$15,000.00 or \$10,000.00. (Issue preserved: R. at 993.)¹

Standard of Review. A trial court's decision to deny a motion for a new trial based on insufficiency of the evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exchange*, 817 P.2d 789, 805 (Utah 1991).

Issue Two. Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it declined to order a new trial on grounds that the jury's award of \$1,000.00 in non-economic damages was inadequate and appeared to be given under the influence of passion or prejudice, even though (1) the jury found Defendant 100% liable for Plaintiff's injury, (2) the undisputed

1. The record in this case has been Bates-stamped so that the first page of a document has a higher number than the subsequent pages. Therefore, when citing a span of pages, the second number in the span will be lower than the first.

evidence was that Plaintiff suffered considerable pain that significantly interfered with her daily life for over three years, and (3) the undisputed evidence was that Plaintiff's injuries will likely continue to adversely affect her quality of life for some time to come. (Issue preserved: R. at 992.)

Standard of Review. A trial court's decision to deny a motion for a new trial based on the influence of passion or prejudice is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See Crookston*, 817 P.2d at 805.

Issue Three. Whether the trial court committed prejudicial error when it excluded portions of Plaintiff's deposition transcript from being submitted as evidence where Plaintiff offered the portions of the deposition transcript to clarify other portions of the deposition introduced into evidence by Defendant. (Issue preserved: Tr. 732:24-734:3.)²

Standard of Review. The blanket exclusion of written statements offered for the purpose of clarifying other written statements entered into evidence is a question of law. *See State v. Cruz-Meza*, 2003 UT 32, ¶¶ 8 & 10, 76 P.3d 1165.

Issue Four. Whether the trial court committed prejudicial error when it excluded an exhibit detailing the specifications of the chair that caused Plaintiff's injury from evidence for lack of foundation, even though (1) the foundation for the exhibit was admitted by Defendant under Rule 36 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and never withdrawn, and (2) any objection to foundation was waived by failure to object within the time allotted under Rule 26(a)(4)(C) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and good cause to excuse the waiver was not shown. (Issue preserved: Tr. 444:14-445:1.)

2. To simplify the record citations and make the brief easier to read, references to the trial transcript (R. at 1200-1203) will be abbreviated as Tr., followed by the relevant page and line of the transcript.

Standard of Review. Whether there is adequate foundation for the admission of an exhibit is a question reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See Clayton v. Ford Motor Co.*, 2009 UT App 154, ¶ 6, 214 P.3d 865. A trial court's finding of good cause is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See State v. Pedockie*, 2004 UT App 224, ¶ 20, 95 P.3d 1182.

Issue Five. Whether the trial court committed prejudicial error when it instructed the jury on reducing future damages to present value, even though (1) the trial court had previously correctly ruled that the burden to produce evidence to allow the jury to calculate the reduction of future damages to present value was on Defendant, and (2) Defendant had produced no evidence that would give the jury a basis to calculate the reduction of future damages to present value. (Issue preserved: Tr. 850:17-856:25.)

Standard of Review. Whether a jury instruction is properly given is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *See Clayton*, 2009 UT App. 154 ¶ 8; *Kirkpatrick v. Wiley Rein & Fielding*, 2001 UT 107, ¶ 64, 37 P.3d 1130. The allocation of burdens of presenting evidence is a question of law. *See State v. Ferguson*, 2005 UT App 144, ¶ 5, 111 P.3d 820.

Issue Six. Whether the trial court committed prejudicial error when it instructed the jury regarding apportioning damages between the injury at issue and preexisting conditions, even though (1) the uncontested evidence was that Plaintiff was asymptomatic at the time of the injury, and (2) there was no evidence presented regarding apportionment of the damages between Plaintiff's injury on Defendant's premises and any preexisting conditions that she may have had. (Issue preserved: Tr. 845:11-848:25; 885:7-887:8.)

Standard of Review. Whether a jury instruction is properly given is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *See Clayton*, 2009 UT App. 154 ¶ 8; *Kirkpatrick*, 2001 UT 107 ¶ 64.

Issue Seven. Whether the trial court committed prejudicial error when it allowed an expert witness to testify that Plaintiff had a psychosomatic weakness that delayed her recovery time and increased her pain and suffering beyond that of an average person, even though the testimony could not be used to justify decreasing or barring Plaintiff's recovery for her injury. (Issue preserved: Tr. 559:21-560:15; 562:2-564:3.)

Standard of Review. A judge's determination of relevance is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See Slisze v. Stanley-Bostitch*, 1999 UT 20, ¶ 17, 979 P.2d 317. A judge's decision to admit or exclude evidence based on Rule 403 of the Utah Rules of Evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See State v. Hamilton*, 827 P.2d 232, 239 (Utah 1992).

Issue Eight. Whether the trial court committed prejudicial error when it allowed counsel for the Defendant to elicit testimony that Dr. Rosenthal's expert report was drafted by counsel for the Plaintiff, even though it is a practice specifically endorsed by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and the testimony was highly prejudicial to Plaintiff. (Issue preserved: Tr. 24:15-31:1.)

Standard of Review. A judge's determination of relevance is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See Slisze*, 1999 UT 20 ¶ 17. A judge's decision to admit or exclude evidence based on Rule 403 of the Utah Rules of Evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See Hamilton*, 827 P.2d at 239 (Utah 1992).

Issue Nine. Whether the trial court committed prejudicial error when it excluded the testimony of Tom Harris, Plaintiff's husband, relating to his intimate relationship with Plaintiff, when it was offered for the purpose of illustrating Plaintiff's diminished capacity for the enjoyment of life. (Issue preserved: Tr. 679:11-680:8.)

Standard of Review. A judge's determination of relevance is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See Slisze*, 1999 UT 20 ¶ 17.

Issue Ten. Whether the trial court committed prejudicial error when it allowed Dr. Colledge's written Curriculum Vitae to be admitted as documentary evidence over Plaintiff's objection that the document constituted inadmissible hearsay. (Issue preserved: Tr. 566:22-25.)

Standard of Review. Whether evidence constitutes hearsay is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *See Prosper, Inc. v. Dept. of Workforce Services*, 2007 UT App 281, ¶ 8, 168 P.3d 344.

Issue Eleven. Whether the cumulative weight of the trial court's errors justifies a new trial in this matter. (Issue preserved: R. at 994.)

Standard of Review. The cumulative error doctrine requires the reviewing court to apply the standard of review applicable to each underlying claim of error. *See Radman v. Flanders Corp.*, 2007 UT App 351, ¶ 4, 172 P.3d 668.

RELEVANT STATUTORY PROVISIONS

There are no statutory provisions whose interpretation is central to this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Wendy Harris brought suit against Defendant ShopKo Stores, Inc. for personal injury on May 7, 2007. (R. at 6.) Plaintiff brought claims for the injuries she

sustained when she sat in a chair that fell apart, causing her to fall to the floor. (R. at 6.)

A jury trial in this matter was held on July 13-16, 2009, before Judge Christine S.

Johnson. (R. at 1200-03.) At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found Defendant 100% at fault for Plaintiff's injuries. (Tr. 1016:13-1017:1.) The jury awarded Plaintiff economic damages in the amount of \$25,000.00, comprising past medical expenses of \$15,000.00 and future medical expenses of \$10,000.00, and non-economic damages in the amount of \$1,000.00. (Tr. 1017:1-4.)

Plaintiff brought a motion for new trial on August 25, 2009, arguing abuse of discretion, error in law, inadequate damages appearing to have been given under the influence of passion and prejudice, and insufficiency of the evidence to justify the verdict. (R. at 922.) This motion was denied in a memorandum decision by Judge Johnson on December 23, 2009. (R. at 1139.) Final judgment was entered on January 13, 2010. (R. at 1154.) Plaintiff filed a notice of appeal on February 3, 2010. (R. at 1188.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. BACKGROUND OF THE LITIGATION

Wendy Harris's Accident at Shopko. On March 29, 2006, Appellant Wendy Harris went into Shopko's Provo store to buy an office chair. (Tr. 692:6-11.) There were various chairs on display at the store in an area where customers could test the chairs, and where the floor was hard and flat. (Tr. 427:8-16; 451:23-25.) Wendy sat in some of the chairs to try them out. (Tr. 692:13-16.) As she sat in one of the chairs, the chair suddenly split apart; the seat of the chair went flying in one direction and the wheels and base went flying in the opposite direction. (Tr. 692:17-693:2.) Wendy fell straight down and landed on her wrist and the left side of her tailbone. (Tr. 693:11-25.)

She started to get up on her own, and was helped by a Shopko employee. (Tr. 694:19-23.) She tried to fill out Shopko's accident report, but she could not do it. In Wendy's own words, "I was shaking. I mean, really shaking. And a young girl behind the counter actually filled it out for me." (Tr. 695:7-13.) While she was able to leave the store on her own, she was still shaking and she felt "a ringing sensation" in her whole body. (Tr. 695:15-23.)

Medical Care. The next day, Wendy started to feel deep abdominal pain that she described as similar to the pain she had after she underwent a hysterectomy. She was worried that "something had come loose" from that surgery, and so she went to the hospital. (Tr. 696:13-697:8.)

Over the next few days, Wendy's wrist pain resolved, but the pain localized into her lower back and tailbone area. (Tr. 697:15-23.) She went to see her brother, Kay Whittaker, a family nurse practitioner, and ultimately saw several other doctors and therapists. (698:3-699:19.) The physicians treating her observed that she was suffering from severe and intense pain in her lower back and tailbone. (Tr. 217:2-8; 344:6-10; 371:13-373:6; 397:25-398:11; 519:15-520:1; 522:6-15; 573:23-574:17.) The pain radiated down the back of her leg to her knee. (Tr. 217:2-8; 397:25-398:11; 540:11-541:11.) Even after almost three years, the pain did not resolve. (Tr. 217:19-21.) Despite incurring over \$25,000.00 in medical expenses as of the end of 2008, her treating physicians and therapists could not offer her more than temporary relief through pain medicine, massage therapy and chiropractic care. (Tr. 378:7-16; 383:10-20; 400:2-8; 543:3-544:15; 590:13-20; 624:9-20; 675:4-14; 699:2-19; 722:16-723:15; R. at 1197, 229-237.)

Wendy's Quality of Life after the Accident. Wendy's pain began to significantly interfere with her daily life. Before the accident, Wendy was active and energetic, very outgoing and socially involved. (Tr. 647:13-24; 648:13-22; 650:15-20; 667:15-21.) She was not suffering from any chronic low-back pain before the accident. (Tr. 240:23-241:1; 515:17-516:2; 572:7-14; 650:21-24; 670:17-671:5.) She would play tennis with her husband and participate in other activities with her family. (Tr. 708:3-709:3.) She would often get together with her friends to go shopping and to watch movies together. (Tr. 648:14-22.) She enjoyed being involved in the PTA, the school activities of her five children, and other community projects. (Tr. 648:2-649:10; 669:11-22; 702:21-703:7.) She helped her husband with the paperwork for his business. (Tr. 666:12-23.) She also felt a deep satisfaction from taking care of her family, and had a vigorous everyday schedule of cooking and cleaning her house. (Tr. 670:4-15; 699:20-700:7.)

After the accident, she attempted to continue with her schedule as normal. In her words, "I just thought it was just like anything else; I just had to kind of get through it. And I just knew it would go away. It would go away. I just kept telling myself, 'Tomorrow it will be fine.' You just push yourself and your kids. There's so much to do." (Tr. 699:20-700:7.) However, the pain did not go away, and she had to stop doing the things she enjoyed doing. (Tr. 683:5-16; 700:8-23.) The pain affected her sleep. (Tr. 217:22-24.) Her intimate relationship with her husband suffered. (Tr. 709:4-10; 712:19-21.) She could not sit for long periods of time. (Tr. 651:19-652:11; 725:14-17.) If she forced herself to sit, it would aggravate her pain for the next few days. (Tr. 685:13-22.) Most days, she was unable to perform everyday tasks like cooking for her family and cleaning her house. (Tr. 674:2-675:3.) Her husband devoted less time to work so that he

could help with the household and help care for her and drive her to doctor's appointments. (Tr. 674:13-675:14; 700:13-23.) Their adult daughter moved back into the house to help care for Wendy's youngest son, Bridger. (Tr. 708:17-709:3.) Her family's activities became limited based on how she could function. (Tr. 677:22-678:4.) She could no longer do the things with friends that she once did. (Tr. 654:2-13.) She withdrew from her previous active place in the community. (Tr. 656:13-657:1.)

Wendy's pain and resulting loss of function affected her emotionally. She was frustrated and angry that she could not function normally and that she could not get the help she needed to ease her pain. (Tr. 676:8-677:8; 700:25-701:19.) The pain began to consume her and her family's daily life. (Tr. 677:22-679:8.)

Of the things she could no longer do, the thing that was hardest on Wendy was that she was limited in caring for Bridger. Bridger was three years old at the time of the accident. (Tr. 701:20-23.) After the accident, she could no longer pick him up and hold him, and could not run and play with him like she used to. (Tr. 701:24-702:16.) She has not been involved with his schooling and activities to the degree that she was with her older children. (Tr. 702:21-703:7.) In her testimony, Wendy described a day when she had to walk Bridger to preschool because there was no car in which to take him:

[B]y the time I had gotten—it was about three blocks, long blocks, and then you enter this pathway that's really long and it opens up to the back field of the school, and you've got a ways to go to get to the school. And by the time I got into that gateway area, . . . if you walk, it starts—your back starts having spasms all the way up, just severe spasms, and the quicker you go, the worse they become . . . I said, "Bridger, you know, Mommy can't go all that way." He knew it. He goes, "Okay. Mommy, that's okay. I can do it." . . . I remember just being sick watching him. And I thought—I just felt like I was a bad mom . . . I cried all the way home, and I remember keeping my head down. I was scared a neighbor would see me or someone would stop to give me a ride. I just thought, "I just need to get home. No one needs to see me," and I just got

home and I didn't go upstairs. I laid down on the living room floor, and I just realized I'm never going to be enough for him unless this goes away.

(Tr. 703:8-705:10.)

Recent and Future Treatment. Despite her depression, Wendy kept stretching and exercising so that she could improve her function and did her best to take care of her family. (Tr. 698:16-699:19; 705:15-707:8.) In 2009, a little less than three years after the accident, Wendy was referred to Dr. Rosenthal, a board-certified pain management specialist. (Tr. 217:13-21.) He diagnosed her with facet joint syndrome, an inflammation of one of the spinal joints, (Tr. 224:5-225:25) and coccydinia, inflammation of the tailbone. (Tr. 231:20-232:3.) He treated her facet joint syndrome with a radio frequency lesioning treatment, which severs the nerve to the facet joint and stops the pain. (Tr. 229:3-25; 231:7-17.) Wendy testified that the treatment decreased her pain and increased her function and quality of life. (Tr. 709:16-710:16.) Because the nerve will eventually repair itself, this process will need to be repeated every 9-14 months for about seven years until the nerve stops growing back. (Tr. 249:1-16.)

Coccydinia is difficult to treat, since putting any pressure on the tailbone prevents healing. (Tr. 232:4-12.) However, sitting on a donut cushion, along with occasional injection of steroids and anesthetics to reduce the inflammation of the ligaments of the tailbone, will likely eventually allow the tailbone to heal. (Tr. 233:6-19.) In the meantime, Dr. Rosenthal recommended continuing pain medicine to manage any remaining pain. (Tr. 250:7-251:2.)

While Dr. Rosenthal believes that Wendy's pain will ultimately resolve, (Tr. 256:13-25) he noted that she will have permanent loss of mobility in her lower spine, (Tr.

257:8-258:1) and that it is possible that she will develop sciatica from her injuries related to the accident at Shopko. (Tr. 258:2-17.) Despite that, the reduction in pain has allowed Wendy to do more of the things that she did before the accident. (Tr. 657:2-658:2; 680:14-23; 709:16-710:16.)

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Pretrial. Plaintiff brought suit against ShopKo on May 7, 2007. (R. at 6.) Plaintiff's original counsel in this matter was William Rawlings. (R. at 6.) Mr. Rawlings withdrew as counsel on June 19, 2008, (R. at 121) and had refused to give Plaintiff her litigation file. (R. at 448; 451; 930.) Plaintiff proceeded *pro se* until January 27, 2009, when she retained the services of Day Shell & Liljenquist, L.C., who convinced Mr. Rawlings to surrender Plaintiff's file on January 29, 2009. (R. at 930.)

At the pretrial conference of February 23, 2009, Defendant objected to submitting further motions in limine before trial, stating that there had already been motions in limine while Plaintiff was acting *pro se*, and that submitting further motions in limine would be unfair to Defendant. (R. at 930.) The Court agreed to disallow written motions in limine, but stated that it would hear oral motions in limine on the first morning of trial. (R. at 612.)³

Testimony as to Damages. Dr. Rosenthal appeared as an expert witness at the trial. He testified to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that it was more likely than not that Wendy's pain and injuries were caused by the accident at Shopko, (Tr. 235:25-236:23; 244:24-245:9) that the \$33,203.34 in medical expenses she had incurred since the

3. At the time of the pretrial conference, Judge Mortensen was presiding in this matter.

accident were medically necessary, (Tr. 245:18-246:14) and that she had sustained permanent injuries that would require future medical care in the amount of \$39,574.00. (Tr. 246:17-247:3.) The parties had earlier stipulated that the amounts of the prior treatments were reasonable, (R. at 863; 865-64) and Dr. Rosenthal testified that the amounts of the future treatments were reasonable. (Tr. 247:6-9.) While the jury heard evidence that Wendy had some prior medical conditions, there was no evidence that any of these conditions were symptomatic prior to the injury, and there was no expert testimony as to what portion of Wendy's injuries were caused by preexisting conditions.⁴

Deposition Transcript. During Defendant's cross-examination of Wendy Harris, counsel for Defendant read into the record the following portion of a response given by Wendy Harris in her deposition transcript in an attempt to impeach Plaintiff's credibility:

"Question: So you are up at 6:30 or 7:00, and if you're feeling okay you take your son to preschool. Well, what do you do when he's in preschool?" Your answer, "I work, do household—you know, everything, vacuum, cleaning, everything to do with—I take care of the home."

(Tr. 728:20-729:1.) In fact, Defendant had stopped reading the answer halfway through the response. The complete answer is as follows:

A. I work, do household—you know, everything, vacuum, cleaning. Everything to do with—I take care of the home. *And the days that I'm worse, I don't. Like I don't do anything. So it just takes longer to do what I used to do, so—I don't ever finish all the things I should be doing.*

(R. at 977.) When Plaintiff attempted to read the remainder of the deposition into evidence, Defendant objected on grounds that it was an improper use of a deposition, and the trial court sustained the objection. (Tr. 733:10-25.)

4. These points are discussed in detail with appropriate citations to the record in Point I.B of the Argument, *infra* at 24-30.

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