2010

Wendy Harris v. Shopko Stores, Inc : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

15. ShopKo’s assertion that Dr. Rosenthal “could not testify with certainty that Harris would need dilaudid in the future” (Pet. Br. 10:18-20) is false. ShopKo’s counsel asked Dr. Rosenthal this very question at trial, and he denied it. (Tr. 325:1-4.) Dr. Rosenthal stated that there was “no way to tell for certain” what dose Wendy needed, (Tr. 250:20-21) but it was his “medical opinion” that she would need dilaudid in the future, (Tr. 246:17-21) and he believed that assessment was true “to a reasonable degree of medical probability.” (Tr. 326-5-13.)

Defendant cannot refute this testimony without providing evidence that an alternative amount of damages is more likely.

- Dr. Rosenthal testified that if a diagnosis had been rendered earlier, Wendy's care "would have been different," and it was "probable" that the intervening care would not have been necessary. (Pet. Br. 10:5-11.)¹⁶
- Dr. Colledge testified that Wendy's treatment with chiropractic and massage therapy is not the kind of treatment which is going to give her the relief she is looking for, and that medical scientific evidence shows that massage therapy and chiropractic care will not offer long-term relief. Wendy received 51 chiropractic treatment sessions and 27 massage therapy sessions, but did not receive any lasting relief from these treatments. (Pet. Br. 11:9-12; 12:19-13:2, 10-13.)¹⁷

These statements are irrelevant from a legal standpoint. As stated earlier, whether a medical treatment was reasonably necessary is not determined by looking at an ideal outcome, but rather what a reasonable person would do given the same information and circumstances. Dr. Rosenthal testified that sometimes low-back conditions resolve with chiropractic or physical therapy. (Tr. 331:2-25.) He further testified that, given the fact that the facet joint syndrome and coccydinia had not yet been discovered, he had no issues with the prior treatment and thought it was appropriate. (Tr. 311:1-7; 312:14-20; 331:19-25.) Wendy went to see a physician and followed his advice. She went to massage therapy based on a doctor's recommendation. (Tr. 345:3-11.) She took pain medicine based upon a prescription. (Tr. 520:9-12.) The massage therapy, chiropractic and pain

16. ShopKo's assertion that Dr. Rosenthal testified that Wendy's prior care was inadequate (Pet. Br. 10:5-7) is false. In the portion of the record ShopKo refers to, Dr. Rosenthal stated: "Other than the fact that she was never provided a diagnosis I believe that her care was appropriate in regards to being symptomatic care." (Tr. 312:17-21.)

17. ShopKo's assertion that Dr. Colledge testified that there is no scientific support for massage therapy and chiropractic care (Pet. Br. 11:11-12) is false. Dr. Colledge actually said that massage therapy and chiropractic would not cure Wendy's injuries, but would provide short-term relief. (Tr. 594:14-15.)

medicine increased her function and quality of life. (Tr. 217:2-8; 219:12-14; 345:25-346:9; 378:7-16; 400:2-8; 699:2-19.) The uncontested testimony was that if it increases function, treating pain using pain medicine and other “passive treatments” is reasonable. (Tr. 340:2-341:3; 587:8-13; 627:9-629:5.) Finally, there was no testimony that these expenses were not medically necessary.

- Dr. Colledge testified that radio frequency treatments do not treat the injury and provides only “short-term relief in about half the patients.” (Pet. Br. 11:12-14.)

This statement is contradicted by the great weight of the evidence, as Plaintiff testified that the treatment actually worked (Tr. 709:16-710:16), and Dr. Rosenthal testified that it was likely that after seven years, the nerve would stop growing. (Tr. 249:7-25.) Dr. Colledge did not address this evidence.

- Dr. Rosenthal testified that Wendy regularly finished her thirty-day prescription for dilaudid in less than thirty days. (Pet. Br. 10:3-5.)¹⁸
- Dr. Colledge testified that Harris should “hold off” on her future use of dilaudid. (Pet. Br. 11:15-19.)

These statements are also irrelevant, as the uncontradicted evidence was that her usage of dilaudid was reasonably necessary, (Tr. 245:18-246:14) and that any dependence that Wendy had on pain medicine was a result of her accident at ShopKo. (Tr. 254:23-255:14.) Dr. Colledge never stated that Wendy’s use of pain medication was unreasonable—just that it should not be taken unless it improves function. (Tr. 586:24-

18. ShopKo’s assertion that Dr. Rosenthal testified that Wendy had overused dilaudid (Pet. Br. 10:3-5) is misleading. Dr. Rosenthal did not state that Wendy had “overused” dilaudid. Dr. Rosenthal testified that Wendy regularly finished her thirty-day prescription for pain killers in less than thirty days, (Tr. 253:15-22) but he could not form an opinion as to whether Wendy was addicted to dilaudid, (Tr. 252:17-253:6) and did not testify that she abused dialudid or used it in an unsafe fashion.

587:13.) The uncontested evidence was that the pain medication improved Wendy's function (Tr. 345:25-346:9), which was Dr. Colledge's standard for a reasonable treatment. (Tr. 587:8-13.) Dr. Hogenson testified that Wendy was not addicted to pain medicine (Tr. 348:6-13), and there was no evidence that she was abusing or overusing the pain medicine. There was no evidence that Wendy was suffering from hyperalgesia—Dr. Colledge's statements were not based on an examination or anything other than speculation. Dr. Hogenson testified that Wendy's dose of pain medication stayed stable while he was treating her, (Tr. 347:16-348:5) leading one to believe that her tolerance had not increased to the point of hyperalgesia.

- One of Plaintiff's massage treatments was listed as a couples massage. (Pet. Br. 13:12-13.)

This statement is not supported by any evidence that Wendy's treatment that day was not medically necessary. Also, the record suggests that the massage for Mr. Harris was free, since the cost of the massage was \$39.00, the same as Wendy's previous treatments. (R. at 1197, 206 & 231 (Records of 8/1/2008).) Even if the jury determined that one-half of the cost was attributable to Mr. Harris, that conclusion would still only justify a deduction of \$19.50.

- Dr. Colledge testified that Wendy had gained weight, which negatively impacted her ability to overcome her conditions. (Pet. Br. 12:15-16).

There was no testimony as to how the extra weight affected Wendy's treatment or damages. The uncontradicted evidence was that she was maintaining a low-calorie diet and keeping as active as her condition would allow. (Tr. 592:3-9; 596:6-11; 706:8-707:8.) Wendy did not need to engage in unreasonable efforts in order to lose weight. *See* Restatement (Second), *supra*, § 919 cmt. b.

Besides the lack of evidence that would support reducing the amounts of economic damages, the round amounts of the awards suggest that the jury did not decide which expenses were or were not compensable and add them together, but rather chose a number arbitrarily. A jury verdict that appears to have arbitrarily chosen an amount for an award of economic damages is based on insufficient evidence. *See Judd v. Rowley's Cherry Hill Orchards, Inc.*, 611 P.2d 1216, 1221 (Utah 1980) (holding that the jury was in error for reducing Plaintiff's award for economic damages without an evidentiary basis). The jury was presented with the amount of \$33,203.34 in past medical expenses and \$39,574.00 in future medical expenses and was given an itemization of these sums. Because the parties stipulated to the reasonableness of the amounts, the jury did not have discretion to reject that stipulation and decide that other numbers were more reasonable—they could only accept or reject item by item. There is simply no combination of figures presented to the jury that could total \$15,000.00 in present damages or \$10,000.00 in future damages, and so the conclusion is inescapable that the jury just chose figures out of the air. The jury verdict is therefore not based on sufficient evidence and the Court of Appeals correctly reversed the trial court's decision.

III. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION SHOULD BE AFFIRMED, AS THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY TO REDUCE FUTURE DAMAGES TO PRESENT VALUE, AS DEFENDANT OFFERED NO EVIDENCE TO PROVIDE A BASIS FOR THE JURY TO REASONABLY CALCULATE THE PRESENT VALUE OF FUTURE MEDICAL EXPENSES.

The trial court erred by charging the jury to reduce the award of future damages to present value where no evidence was presented to allow them to make such a determination. Consider the following: you will have expenses of \$39,574.00 over the

next five years. Some expenses will accrue monthly, some quarterly, some semi-annually. How much money would you need today, so that if it were prudently invested, would cover all \$39,574.00 in expenses? By the way, this is a closed-book exam—consulting bond rates, savings rates, annuity tables and the like are not allowed. This was the question posed to the jury in this case, and the difficulty of deriving an answer from one’s common sense and everyday experience underscores the Court of Appeals’ statement in *Gallegos v. Dick Simon Trucking* that present value calculations are “almost impossible for a jury without assistance.” 2004 UT App 322, ¶ 11, 110 P.3d 710; *see also Brodie v. Philadelphia Transp. Co.*, 203 A.2d 657, 659-60 (Pa. 1964) (“Trial judges and lawyers freely admit that the application of the “present worth rule” is beyond the understanding and capabilities of most lay persons serving on juries The involved process of reducing future losses to their present worth has, undoubtedly, led to confusion and guesswork verdicts.”). While expert testimony is not necessary, competent evidence of present value, such as an annuity table or some similar actuarial table, must be introduced into evidence to assist the jury in making the calculation. *See Bennett v. Denver & Rio Grande W. R.R. Co.*, 213 P.2d 325, 328 (Utah 1950). Without some evidentiary basis to guide the jury, its reduction of damages would be completely arbitrary and invalid. *See TruGreen Companies, L.L.C. v. Mower Brothers, Inc.*, 2008 UT 81, ¶ 15, 199 P.3d 929. As stated by the Pennsylvania Supreme Court, “[T]he amount of future damages warranted by the evidence and the law in a given case is a mathematical fact. There is no logical reason why it should not be established by proof like other relevant facts.” *Brodie*, 203 A.2d at 660.

But what party should be required to produce this evidence? As stated by the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, the issue presented “is whether reduction to present value is an indispensable element of the plaintiff’s claim for future lost wages which he must always prove by specific evidence or whether, absent contest by the defendant, the plaintiff sufficiently proves his claim by evidence of the gross amount of those lost wages.” *Aldridge v. Baltimore and Ohio R. Co.*, 789 F.2d 1061, 1067 (4th Cir. 1986). As noted in the committee notes for the Model Utah Jury Instructions, there is no Utah case law on point, and other jurisdictions are split on the issue. Model Utah Jury Instructions 2d CV2021 (Utah State Bar 2012), *available at* <http://www.utcourts.gov/resources/muji>. However, the jurisdictions that have concluded that the burden of producing evidence of present value is on the Plaintiff invariably base their decisions on a conclusory statement that evidence of present value is a material element of a plaintiff’s claim for future damages. *See, e.g., Aldridge*, 789 F. 2d at 1068 (Boyle, Dist. J., dissenting) (“The present value of lost future earnings is not an affirmative defense but rather a material element of the plaintiff’s claim for that special damage.”); *Steppi v. Stromwasser*, 297 A.2d 26, 27 (Del. 1972) (“[The] burden is upon the plaintiff to prove the nature and extent of the loss caused by the defendant; that burden . . . is not satisfied by proof of the amount that she would have earned had she not been injured; that is not the true measure of her loss. Her proof is not complete without evidence of the present value of that loss.”). As one commentator noted, allocation of burdens of proof based on “essential elements” and “affirmative propositions” are “hollow, semantic debate[s]” that are “easily manipulated” by altering the syntax of the issues presented. Thomas R. Lee, *Pleading and Proof: The*

Economics of Legal Burdens, 1997 B.Y.U. L. Rev. 1. The Court should reject the semantic approach to allocating burdens of proof in favor of a methodology of burden allocation based on maximizing efficiency and minimizing social costs (“cost minimization methodology”). *See id.* at 11-28.

Cost minimization methodology posits that there are two types of costs associated with litigation: direct costs, which are the costs to the parties and to the courts or pursuing litigation; and error costs, which are the social costs associated with erroneous decisions by the court. *Id.* at 4-6. Under this methodology, burdens of proof and production of evidence are properly allocated when the frequency and magnitude of both types of costs are minimized. *Id.*¹⁹

Allocating the burden to produce evidence of present value to the defendant is consistent with minimizing social costs for several reasons. First, the cost of non-production is lower on the defendant than the plaintiff. If the defendant fails to meet its burden of producing the evidence, it has to pay the non-reduced value, *see Miller v. Union P.R. Co.*, 900 F.2d 223, 226 (10th Cir. 1990), while if the plaintiff failed to produce the evidence, it would have failed to produce sufficient evidence of the amount of its future damages and so would lose all of its future damages, *see Lewin Realty III, Inc. v. Brooks*, 771 A.2d 446, 476 (Md. App. 2001). In this scenario, a plaintiff will

19. While the cited article applies cost minimization methodology mostly to issues of liability, the principles apply equally as well to questions regarding the amount of damages.

almost always lose more than a defendant.²⁰ Second, while the direct cost of producing this evidence is theoretically equal for both parties,²¹ because the defendant benefits from the introduction of evidence of present value, it should bear the direct cost of producing it. *See Aldridge*, 789 F.2d at 1067 (“To the extent that the issue [of determining present value] in a given case necessarily becomes difficult, it seems fair to place the burden of procuring and presenting economic evidence on the litigant who would benefit from its acceptance by the factfinder.”); *Alma v. Manufacturers Hanover Trust*, 684 F.2d 622, 626 (9th Cir.1982) (holding on that basis that defendant should produce evidence of present value, while plaintiff should produce evidence of inflation); *Lewin*, 771 A.2d 473-74; *Miller*, 900 F.2d at 226; *see also John Call Engineering Corp. v. Manti City Corp.*, 795 P.2d 678, 680 (Utah App. 1990) (“It is not a plaintiff’s burden to produce the evidence on which any reduction of damages is to be predicated.”); *Ault*, 739 P.2d at 1120-21 (allocating on defendant the burden to show that an alternate method of valuation would lead to reduced recovery). Finally, placing the burden of proof on the defendant is consistent with the policy preference in Utah law that once liability has been established, it is “the wrongdoer, rather than the injured party, who should bear the burden of some uncertainty in the amount of damages.” *Atkin Wright & Miles*, 709 P.2d at 336; *cf. Lee*,

20. Assuming a discount rate of 2% above the rate of inflation and equal yearly withdrawals, a defendant’s cost of nonproduction would only be lower if the plaintiff were awarded future damages 79 years or more into the future.

21. It is for this reason that producing evidence of present value can be distinguished from the requirement of producing evidence of both revenue and costs in determining lost profits—evidence of the costs of doing business is almost entirely within the possession of the plaintiff, making the direct cost of producing such evidence lower.

supra, at 20-27 (discussing minimization of costs based on a policy determination that some errors are more costly than others). Additionally, these grounds for allocating the burden to defendant have been endorsed as sound by several other jurisdictions, including all but one federal circuit. *See Lewin*, 771 A.2d 470-77 (citing and discussing cases). Therefore, the burden of production of reduction to present value is properly on the defendant.

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